



Overweight and Obesity in Massachusetts:

A Focus on Physical Activity

Paper prepared by: Jennifer Sacheck, Ph.D. and Amy Glynn, MPP/MBA candidate

Wednesday, May 16, 2012 8:00 a.m. - 11:30 a.m.

Omni Parker House Hotel 60 School Street Boston, MA

Copyright © 2012. The Massachusetts Health Policy Forum. All rights reserved.

NO. 41

Sustaining Funding: Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts The Forum is also supported by generous grants from: Partners HealthCare • Tufts Health Plan Foundation MHPF is a collaboration of the Schneider Institutes for Health Policy at the Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University The Issue Brief for this Forum is on the MHPF website at www.masshealthpolicyforum.brandeis.edu

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	3
Childhood Obesity Prevalence and Trends	4
Causes of Obesity	4
Energy Gap	
Lack of Physical Activity	
Why Aren't Our Children Physically Active?	7
Needed Recognition - Physical Activity and Academic Achievement	10
Consequences and Costs	11
Strategic Policy Development and Program Adoption	
Massachusetts Policy and Program Environment	
MA Department of Public Health	15
Community-Based Interventions and Infrastructure Development	
Mass in Motion (MIM) Success Stories from Wellness Grants	16
Active Projects in MA Communities	18
School-Based Programs	19
Federal Efforts	21
Other State Efforts	22
Final Recommendation	23

Executive Summary

Obesity continues to be a national epidemic with one-third of children and two-thirds of adults overweight or obese.¹ Inadequate physical activity is one of the driving factors of this public health crisis. We have a problem in our state – our children are not active and are under-fit. Overall, Massachusetts ranks 33rd for percentage of children who are obese, yet we rank last for percentage of high school students engaged in the recommended 60 minutes of physical activity daily, according to NEHI's 2011 report card.^{2,3} We also rank in the bottom 25% of all states for our overall policy environment for promotion of physical education.⁴ Among Massachusetts high school students:

- 57% of students are not physically active for a total of at least 60 minutes a day on 5 or more days during the prior 7 days.
- Only 17% of students are physically active daily.
- 23% of children report not being physically active for 60 minutes *on any day*.
- Nearly 30% of students reported watching television for 3 or more hours per day on school days.
- 44% do not attend PE during an average week.

A lack of physical activity deprives the body of fundamental physiologic stimuli which improves health in a multitude of dimensions. Physically unfit children are more likely to have abnormal blood lipids, elevated blood pressure, elevated blood glucose, and more depressive symptoms.⁵ Unfit children are also more likely to be obese.^{6,7} Obesity costs our nation more than \$190 billion annually which amounts to almost a quarter of all health care expenditures.⁸ Overweight children cost on average \$200 more each year when compared to their healthy weight counterparts.⁹ However, for every \$1 spent on building biking and walking paths nearly \$3 in medical expenses can be saved.¹⁰ Furthermore, 27% of Americans aged 18-24 years are too unfit to join the military.¹¹ Not only is childhood obesity a major public health concern, it has drastic economic consequences for the state and our national security.

Just as there are many factors that impact obesity, policy solutions need to come from a variety of levels – including state, community, and schools - in order to have the greatest impact. Collaborative efforts need to stem from programmatic and regulatory efforts in order to maximize effectiveness. Schools are an essential avenue to increase time to physical activity for our children. The impressive link between physical activity and academic achievement demonstrates the need not only to enhance time and resources dedicated to recess and quality physical education, but to incorporate movement throughout the school day across all grade levels. Strong, supportive school wellness committees will be vital in helping schools implement key strategies to optimize physical activity time. Out of school time, activities and policies are also critical in ensuring that our youth engage in the recommended levels of physical activity.

Communities should be empowered to assess their physical activity environments, raise awareness of the benefits of physical activity, and allocate resources where the need is highest.

State and federal-level money allocated to communities allows each community to target vulnerable populations and utilize funding in the most cost-effective manner. Creation of coalitions will enable all stakeholders including community centers, recreational departments, government agencies, police departments, local businesses and institutions, and non-profit organizations to create sustainable partnerships and make it more feasible to garner support to implement these initiatives. Policy recommendations include:

- Design and support a Massachusetts Physical Activity Plan modeled off of our National Physical Activity Plan to ensure that physical activity is a priority in our state
- Set state-wide policies for quality physical education, more physical activity, and ample recess time in schools
- Require schools to administer physical fitness testing
- Provide funding to communities and schools to enhance quality physical education and develop other innovative school-based initiatives
- Convene strong and supportive school wellness committees to help schools commit to physical activity regulations and recommendations
- Implement zoning changes in the built environment around access to open spaces, public transportation, and safe routes to walk
- Build communities that are pedestrian and cyclist friendly, create schoolyards, open spaces, and trails that are safe and accessible, and improve public transit systems to promote active living
- Increase Department of Public Health funding for physical activity programs via *Mass in Motion*
- Build support for the Affordable Care Act and the funds it supports such as Community Transformation Grants
- Support additional surveillance and evaluation of these policies and programs to inform best practices and sustain the success of existing initiatives

Funding, community engagement, perceived time to be active, and administrative "buy-in" will be the greatest barriers to implement these initiatives that support broad-based change in physical activity. Sustainable relationships and support from all stakeholders will help raise recognition, support, and funding. With the persistent levels of overweight and obesity along with low levels of physical activity and fitness, we must recognize as a state the opportunities for change, make clear messages promoting physical activity, and offer easy opportunities for all ages to be physically active citizens. Lastly, Massachusetts needs to make physical activity not just the *easy choice*, but also the *desired choice*.

Introduction

Overweight and obesity remains an epidemic with major social and economic costs and consequences. About a third of Massachusetts' children are overweight or obese, as are more than half of adults.¹² Obese children are at increased risk of Type II diabetes, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, and obstructive sleep apnea, and experts predict a continued increase in the societal and economic costs of our state and nation's unhealthy weight problem.^{3,4} Proper nutrition and physical activity, the major factors implicated in the obesity trend, are becoming worse on a population level.

This report focuses specifically on physical activity, or the "calories out" side of the energy balance equation. Enabling adults and children to be physically active and preventing the onset of physical inactivity is

crucial to addressing the obesity epidemic.¹³ Children have little say in what food they are provided, where they live, and the amount of access they have to recreational areas. The need for early prevention underscores the importance of policies that promote children's physical activity. This issue brief describes the problem, trends and contributors to physical inactivity in Massachusetts, presents the health and economic consequences of the problem, and highlights policies and programs that can promote healthy physical activity behaviors in our state. We conclude that raising public awareness of the problem, prioritizing physical activity, and changing our physical activity environment – through implementing policies and providing funding for programs and initiatives - will be necessary to reverse our state's declining levels of physical activity.



Figure 1: Childhood obesity prevalence (percent) by state. (Trust for America's Health 2011 *F as in Fat* report).

Childhood Obesity Prevalence and Trends

While Massachusetts is not ranked as poorly as the rest of the nation for obesity rates (we have the 4th lowest rate of adult obesity), still 22.3% of adults are obese with obesity prevalence rising from 2007-2009 to 2008-2010.¹⁴ The numbers get worse when looking at our children where we have the 17th lowest rate with 13% of our children classified as obese¹⁵ and a staggering 17% of children aged 2-5 from low-income families in our state are already obese.¹⁶

A 2009 sample of body mass index (BMI) measurements from 1st, 4th, 7th and 10th graders in 80 districts found that 28% of students were overweight or obese.¹⁷ In a 2011 national survey of high school health, where height and weight are self-reported, 15% of Massachusetts high school students are overweight and 10% are obese (Figure 2). And for some demographics the numbers are worse - combined overweight/obesity rates for both lowincome and Hispanic children in Massachusetts are around 45%.¹⁸

The good news is that the overweight and obesity levels may have reached a plateau within some demographics.¹⁹ A recent study from the Boston Metro west region, demonstrates a decline in obesity rates in children under 6.²⁰ The bad news is that we still need to make significant progress to reverse the statistics. Reports indicate no significant changes in overweight and obesity between 2007-2008 and 2009-2010 for U.S. children 2-19 years, but indicate a leveling off of the 20-year upward trend.²¹ This apparent "leveling off" should not minimize the potential consequences from the still very high numbers of obese children in our state and in our nation.

Causes of Obesity

Energy Gap

Obesity is complex and multifaceted with no single cause. On the simplest level weight gain is caused



Figure 2. 1999-2011 trends for adolescent overweight and obesity in Massachusetts and the United States through 2009 (Youth Risk Behavior Survey, 2009, 2011). by an energy imbalance with excess caloric intake not offset by physical activity. This "energy gap" or imbalance between the number of calories consumed each day needed to produce weight gain, has been estimated to be between 110-165 calories per day²⁴ which is roughly equal to a 1-ounce bag of potato chips. Recent research examining this energy gap in children, demonstrate that the energy gap to get childhood obesity rates down by 10% ranges from 87 to 168 calories for 2-19 year olds depending on ethnicity and family income.²⁵ Even more alarming, overweight adolescents consume on average 700-1,000 more calories a day than is needed for normal growth.²⁶ These added calories equate to a shocking gain of an extra 6 lbs per year.²⁷

In 2011 the Massachusetts **Department of Public Health** released a report on our children's health behaviors and documented huge gaps between calories consumed and expended, further fueling the obesity epidemic.²⁸ Greater efforts need to be focused on closing this "energy gap." Recent attention and legislative focus has been on curtailing poor eating habits and implementing regulations for competitive foods (i.e., non-reimbursable foods) in public schools, with new regulations on competitive foods going into effect in August in all Massachusetts public schools. Initiatives that involve improving

physical activity engagement have been somewhat overshadowed by nutrition efforts, yet can have major impacts on a child's health. For example, simply increasing physical education classes from once per week to three times per week can increase caloric expenditure by 240 kcal per week.²⁹

Lack of Physical Activity

Physical activity is necessary to expend energy and is helpful in achieving energy balance, improving eating behavior, and enhancing psychological well-being, but the majority of American children and adults are not physically active.^{30,31,32,33} More than a quarter of U.S. adults do not engage in any leisure-time physical activity (physical activity engaged in during leisure time).³⁴ Physical activity declines dramatically across age groups, especially between childhood and adolescence, and then continues to decline as people get older.⁶³ Non-leisure time physical activity, such as physical work, walking, biking to work, and household chores, has decreased substantially in the past 20 to 30 years, due to increasing mechanization at work and at home. Increased use of cars for short errand and shopping trips has significantly reduced physical activity.³⁵ It is recommended that adults walk 10,000 steps daily, however most U.S. adults between the ages of 20 and 74 accumulate less than 5,000 steps a day.^{36,37}

In 2008 the first Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans were released which recommend that adults accumulate 150 minutes per week of moderate to vigorous activity and children accumulate at least 60 minutes per day of moderate to vigorous physical activity (Appendix II).³⁸ However, according to an objective measure, only 42% of 6-11 year olds and less than 8% of adolescents aged 12-19 years reach this goal.^{39,40}

According to Kaiser State Health Facts, in 2009 Massachusetts was tied with South Carolina for ranking the worst in the nation for the percentage of high school students not getting the recommended amount of physical activity with 67% of Massachusetts and South Carolina high-school students not meeting the goal.⁴¹ This was especially surprising given that Massachusetts has been a leader in health care providing near universal access to health coverage before any other state and being a hub for some of the world's greatest physicians, teaching hospitals, and sub-specialties. These statistics highlight the need for state, local public health officials, and policy makers to address this problem.

In Massachusetts high school students:^{42,43}

 57% of students are not physically active for a total of at least 60 minutes a day on 5 or more days during the prior 7 days.

- Only 17% of students are physically active daily.
- 82% do not attend physical education classes daily and 44% do not attend PE during an average week.
- Over 23% of children report not being physically active for 60 minutes on any day.
- Nearly 30% of students reported watching television for 3 or more hours per day on school days.

Differences in activity levels also exist across demographics. Despite the Title IX law that states no one shall be denied benefits, excluded from participating or discriminated under any educational program based on sex, females are significantly less physically active than males (40% compared to 25%, respectively).⁴⁴ Furthermore, Hispanic and Black students were less likely to report being physically active at least 60 minutes per day.⁴⁵ Children living below the federal poverty level are also more likely to be physically inactive.⁴⁶ These facts highlight subpopulations that are more susceptible to high childhood obesity rates, and show a need for policy makers to target these groups that are less prone to being physically active.

Why Aren't Our Children Physically Active?

Active lifestyles have dramatically shifted over the last generation. We live in an environment that does not promote physical activity. Reasons for this range from increased time spent watching television or sitting behind a computer screen to parents not encouraging free play in the outdoors due to over-scheduling or other time demands and safety concerns. Other factors include the built environment where the ability to access sidewalks and parks has diminished or even in some areas where parks and sidewalks abound, safety concerns restrict the ability of children to play outside. Finally, schools have been blamed for decreasing physical education and recess time. Not only do schools not offer adequate physical activity time, but in total, children are getting less exercise in other areas of their lives.

 Physical education and recess time. Fifty-eight percent of Massachusetts' adolescents attend PE class one or more days per week and a mere 18% attend PE classes daily and these numbers are dropping.⁴⁷ Current guidelines recommend 150 minutes per week of physical education for children in elementary school and 225 minutes per week in middle and high school.⁴⁸ Massachusetts students are far from reaching this recommendation. Table 2 provides additional national standards for physical education.

Schools have been blamed for scheduling inadequate time for exercise, whether that be physical education classes or recess.⁷⁴ Budgetary constraints and increasing pressure to improve standardized test scores have caused school officials to question the value of PE and recess even though recent research has illustrated the benefits of physical activity and fitness on cognitive performance and testing.⁴⁹ Beyond test scores, PE classes may be important in maintaining and/or improving children's physical fitness which helps to decrease adiposity and improve cardiovascular risk factors.^{50,51,52} Finally, physical education is critical to give kids the knowledge, skills, and motivation for a lifetime of physical activity on top of dedicating time for the kids to be physically active. Physical education is an example of primary prevention at its best.

Table 2. Physical Education Standards
Ability to demonstrate competency in motor skills and movements patters
Ability to demonstrate understanding of movement concepts, principles, strategies, and tactics as they apply to the learning and performance of physical activities
Participates regularly in physical activity
Achieves a health-enhancing level of physical fitness
Exhibits responsible personal and social behavior that respects self and others
Values physical activity for health, enjoyment, challenge, self-expression, and/or social interaction.
National Association of Sports and Physical Education

National Association of Sports and Physical Education (NASPE). *National Standards for Physical Education* NASPE: 2004.

- Massachusetts law requires that PE be • taught in all public school students, but in 1996, the Board of Education repealed regulations mandating *minimum annual hours of PE*.⁵⁴ Only 6 states, including Massachusetts, require physical education in every grade K-12, and only 18% of states require daily recess for elementary school children.⁵⁵ With such constraints on PE, there are also limited opportunities for health education that includes information about nutrition as well as physical activity and fitness. Currently legislation is pending in Massachusetts to improve the quality of physical education classes.
- Recess can add significant activity time to a child's total daily physical activity.^{78,79} In Massachusetts, recess time depends on the individual school's wellness policy. Legislation has been proposed to increase recess time, but none has passed in Massachusetts. Current legislation proposed by

Representative Sánchez of Massachusetts (House Bill No. 01157) would require that students receive at least 30 minutes of physical activity daily from a combination of PE, class, and/or recess.⁵⁶

Physical fitness. There is a profound lack of data on the physical fitness of American children, with most of the data being from the 1980s.⁵⁷ What information we have indicates a national decline in cardiovascular physical fitness from 1981 to 2000.^{58,59} Fitness is a reliable objective marker of habitual physical activity and has significant diagnostic and clinical relevance in adults and in children. In adults, maintaining or improving fitness is associated with a lower risk of allcause mortality in men.⁶⁰ As of 2010, only 12 states have policies requiring administration of a physical fitness test and Massachusetts is not among them.^{86,61} Fitness testing only occurs in 57% of our public secondary schools



Figure 3. Physical education attendance in high school students, 1993-2009 (Youth Risk Behavior Survey). and most of these schools do not share results with families or the administration.⁶² In 2007, 61% of 4th through 8th grade students in Cambridge and half of the 4th through 8th grade students in Somerville did not pass the physical fitness test. 63,64 In Cambridge, researchers demonstrated that poor performance on the endurance shuttle run, which is a good measure of cardiovascular fitness, was predictive of the incidence of overweight in these schoolchildren.⁶⁵ The lack of available data on our children's fitness and the likelihood of less than optimal fitness levels amongst our youth, highlight the need for a broader assessment of physical fitness in American youth.

OBESITY AND PHYSICAL FITNESS IN CALIFORNIA SCHOOL CHILDREN: In

2005, California legislators and the California Department of Education made changes to the state's public school physical activity programs, including a requirement for increased minutes of activity for students in grades K-12. Since 1996, California schools monitored student performance using Fitnessgram, a test of 6 domains of physical fitness. Early results suggest that their program is slowing the rate of child obesity and increasing levels of fitness and strength.⁶⁶

 Built environment. The built environment limits our ability

to commute to school and work via walking or biking or even by public transportation. Research shows that individuals who commute by cycling or walking have an 11% decrease in cardiovascular risk.⁶⁷ Enhancing public transportation access also helps prevent health problems by increasing options to healthy foods and physical activity.⁶⁸ Those who utilize public transportation take 30% more steps and spend about 8 minutes more walking than those who drive.⁶⁹ Each additional hour spent in a car is associated with a 6% increase in the chance of becoming obese, and each additional kilometer walked results in a 5% decrease in the likelihood of obesity.⁷⁰

Walking to school for many children is not easy or safe if sidewalks are unavailable.⁷¹ The 2009 YRBS survey found that more than half of students did not walk or bike to school within the past 5 days.⁷² Playing outdoors is more difficult if there are not adequate parks and recreational areas for children to play safely.⁷³ Many housing developments lack sidewalks or recreational areas.⁷⁴ Poor neighborhoods are much less likely to have places where children can be active, such as parks, green spaces, and bike paths and lanes.⁷⁵ Safety in inner city neighborhoods also makes it difficult for youth to play outside.⁷⁶ Physical activity in children has been shown to be associated with the proportion of green space,⁷⁷ with the residential density, with the general impression of activity-friendliness of the neighborhood, sports fields, water, dog waste, heavy traffic, and safe walking

and cycling conditions in the neighborhood.⁷⁸ Children's physical activity is associated with certain modifiable factors of the built environment. For example, state spending on parks and recreation is positively associated with girls' overall physical activity.⁷⁹

- Free play. State park officials, • educators, and innovative "thinkers" have advocated for more "free play" time.⁸⁰ This implies that our children are over-scheduled and need time to play as they please, in an unstructured manner which will spontaneously stimulate physical activity on a regular basis. This may also give children the time and freedom to explore the outdoors and nature and become more interested in being outside which would increase physical activity. There may also be an overestimation of how much activity a child is getting in structured play settings. For example, a parent may assume that a child playing organized soccer is sufficiently active. However, a child may only have a game and/or practice a few times per week, or may not play an entire 50-minute game, and possibly not even meet the recommendation of 60 minutes of physical activity per day even on a "soccer day."⁸¹
- Increased screen time. As technology continues to advance at a rapid rate, children spend more time being sedentary playing on computers, phones, using other technological devices, or watching television.
 Children spend on average 7.5 hours per day behind a screen.⁸² Increased screen time is also linked to unhealthy

nutritional practices in children. Combined increased screen time and associated poorer nutrition lead to higher BMI rates in children and poorer health outcomes.^{83,84,85} Nearly half of Boston high school students reported daily screen time that exceeded 3 hours with non-school screen time estimated at 3.6 hours on an average school day.⁸⁶ Even among middle school students in Massachusetts, almost two-thirds were exposed to 3 or more hours of screen time (computer or television) each school day.⁸⁷ In total, our students screen time is well beyond the recommended 2-hour limit suggested by the American Academy of Pediatrics.⁸⁸ No television is recommended for children under 2 vears, yet 53% of 1-5 year-old children in our state watch at least one hour of television or a video during a weekday.89

Needed Recognition - Physical Activity and Academic Achievement

Not only is physical activity closely linked to a healthy weight status,⁹⁰ according to a Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) review of 50 studies, physical activity improves students' academic performance, including grades and standardized test scores.⁹¹ Students who are engaged in aerobic physical activity 3 or more times a week have better grades than those who do not engage in vigorous physical activity.⁹² Physically active students also have lower drop-out rates, behave better in class, have improved self-esteem, are more engaged in school activities, have lower absentee rates, and have fewer health problems than non-active

children.^{93,94,95,96,97} Just as health advocates look to schools to enhance opportunities for physical activity and physical education in an effort to improve fitness and curb the obesity epidemic, schools are cutting back time committed to these endeavors in an effort to focus on academic achievement. The evidence that enhancing physical activity may promote academic achievement appears to be contrary to many school administrators' expectations that increased time and attention to core subjects will improve test scores, and most states have yet to embrace policies or practices that enhance physical activity within the school day.⁹⁸

Consequences and Costs

The World Health Organization estimates that 1.9 million deaths worldwide are attributable to physical inactivity.¹⁰⁸ Simply greater time spent sitting is also associated with mortality.¹⁰⁹ Chronic diseases associated with physical inactivity include cancer, diabetes, and coronary heart disease and cognitive impairment in the elderly.¹¹⁰

Inactivity and obesity pose significant economic cost burdens in Massachusetts and the nation.¹¹¹ It is estimated that medical expenditures for overweight and obese children are about \$200 more per year when compared to healthy weight children.¹¹² In 2003, Massachusetts spent about \$1.8 billion on adult obesity related medical costs, which is almost 5% of the total amount of money spent annually on health care.¹¹³ These numbers do not include out-of-pocket expenses such as over-the-counter diet pills and weight-loss programs. If childhood obesity continues to rise, health care costs will escalate as the obese children become obese adults and incur more health complications.

More than a quarter of health care costs in the U.S. are attributable to obesity. Obesity-associated annual hospital costs in youths aged 6-17 years have more than tripled from \$35 million during 1979-1981 to \$127 million during 1997-1999.¹¹⁴ Trust for America's Health 2011 report concluded that the United States could save \$29.8 billion in 5 years in health care costs if obesity rates were reduced by just 5%. In 10 years the savings would add up

Physical Activity and Academic Achievement in Massachusetts. In Massachusetts, the odds of passing both the MCAS Mathematics test and the MCAS English test increased as the number of fitness tests passed increased.⁹⁹ Other intervention studies suggest that increasing time on structured physical activity, while decreasing time on Mathematics and English, does not lower test scores¹⁰⁰ but may even raise them.^{101,102} Likewise, many observational studies suggests that fitness and/or increased physical activity are either positively or at least neutrally associated with academic achievement.^{103,104,105,106,107} It is unknown whether school administrators are either not aware of this research evidence or do not know how to apply the information to their school policies and practices. Promoting fitness by increasing opportunities for physical activity during physical education, recess, and out of school time may support academic achievement.

to \$158.1 billion, and in 20 years the U.S. could save \$611.7 billion.¹¹⁵ A new 2012 report found that obesity-related health care expenses in 2005 reached a staggering \$190 billion.¹¹⁶ This amounts to 21% of all medical spending, which is greater than the costs incurred by smoking or consuming alcohol.^{117,118}

Obesity also places economic burdens on businesses. Obese employees miss more days of work than non-obese employees due to short-term absences, disability, or premature death.¹¹⁹ Furthermore, many companies including hospitals, airplanes, public buses, and stadiums have had to spend money to build wider seats. Even cars burn almost a billion gallons of gasoline more every year than they would if passengers weighed what they did in the 1960s.¹²⁰

As these numbers show, the U.S. spends large amounts of money on medical services, yet the solutions and improvements are found at the prevention and public health levels. Last year, Massachusetts spent over \$63 billion on public and private health care, while affording less than \$600 million on public health and prevention measures.¹²¹ Furthermore, a 2010 study found that the median physical education budget for schools in the U.S. was only \$764 per school and 61% of PE teachers report an annual budget of under \$1,000.¹²² Policy makers need to invest more money and time in public health initiatives in order to save money and the lives our children. Yet the cost of obesity-related health expenditures was over \$140 billion in 2008.¹²³ As the mismatch of health care spending in Massachusetts has widened, obesity rates have more than doubled and

diabetes rates have increased by 40% in just 10 years. Residents spend more than \$10,000 per capita on health care, while public health programs have had major budget reductions in recent years.¹²⁴

Despite the potential for public health interventions to mitigate these costs the public health budget and prevention programs continue to get cut. An American Heart Association review of more than 200 research studies in 2011 found that through direct medical care and community -based prevention programs and policies, cardiovascular disease could be prevented or delayed to older age.¹²⁵ The report also highlighted significant cost savings from prevention programs:¹²⁶

- For every \$1 spent on building biking and walking paths, nearly \$3 in medical expenses can be saved.
- For every \$1 spent in wellness programs, businesses can save \$3.27 in medical costs and \$2.73 in absenteeism costs.
- For every \$1 spent on one-year interventions targeting poor eating and physical activity behaviors, \$1.17 can be saved.
- Changes in nutrition and activity behaviors reduce the likelihood of having Type 2 diabetes by 58% compared to drug therapy, which only reduces the likelihood by 31%.

Obesity is also affecting the readiness of U.S. military as well as fire and police officers. One group that has been a proponent of healthy living and physical fitness is the U.S. army. A group of retired military leaders published the report "Too

Fat to Fight" advocating for immediate policy change to address the obesity epidemic. They cite excess weight as the number one medical reason for rejection to serve in the army.¹²⁷ In total, some 27% of Americans aged 18-24 years are too heavy to join the military.¹²⁸ These problems are also being seen among firefighters and police officers. More than half of the 1.1 million firefighters are overweight and almost a third are obese.¹²⁹ In addition, many police officer recruits have difficulty passing the fitness requirement.¹³⁰ These facts underscore the detrimental impacts obesity has not only on the individual but also on national defense and public safety which is why it is vital to make obesity prevention a top priority among policy makers.

Strategic Policy Development and Program Adoption

In order to effectively reverse the numbers of obese Americans, policies need to address multiple systems in which we live in order to have the largest impact. On May 8, 2012 the Institute of Medicine released a report which highlights key strategies for accelerating progress in obesity prevention.¹³¹ The committee took a comprehensive approach and identified that engagement, leadership and action had to be taken by ALL – individuals, families, communities, and society. The goals include:

- 1) Integrate physical activity every day in every way
- 2) Market what matters for a healthy life

- 3) Make healthy foods and beverages available everywhere
- 4) Activate employers and health care professionals
- 5) Strengthen schools as the heart of health

Four of these goals work directly to promote physical activity. In order to successfully reach these goals, key strategies, policies, and laws have to be implemented. A coordinated effort from both the regulatory and programmatic side must be used to evoke societal change. However, without funding and support from local communities, schools, the state, and federal government we will not be able to fully catalyze change.

Massachusetts Policy and Program Environment

In 2010, Massachusetts joined 10 other states to pass school nutrition and nutrition education laws. The MA Senate unanimously passed a bill banning the sale of salty and sugary snacks, as well as, high calorie sodas in public schools.¹³² The bill requires schools to sell fresh fruits and vegetables, buy locally when possible, provide information on nutrition and exercise, and ban the sale of deep fried foods. Now with a successful nutrition bill in place, Massachusetts has recently turned towards improving physical education requirements throughout the state, although none have been enacted to date. Massachusetts currently ranks in the bottom 25% of all states for our overall state index of policy environment for

promotion of physical education – this includes time requirements, staffing requirements, curriculum requirements and assessment of fitness (Figure 4).¹³³

In 2011, Massachusetts legislation debated more than 10 physical activity or physical education bill requirements.¹³⁵ Some of these pending bills like House Bill 1157 "An Act to promote healthy people and a healthy economy in Massachusetts" sponsored by Representative Sánchez, House Chair, Joint Committee on Public Health, specify the number of minutes students should engage in physical activity.¹³⁶ The other three components of Sánchez's legislation include a tax credit for healthy food businesses to attract healthy stores and promote job opportunities, health impact reports for public capital building projects, and BMI examinations. Other legislation like House Bill 1053 "An Act for mandatory physical education for all students grades K-12" sponsored by Ms. Fox of Boston, focus on improving the

quality of physical education classes by specifying what should be taught in PE classes at each grade level.¹³⁷

In addition a dozen bills were pending in 2011 concerning zoning regulations that either directly or indirectly address the obesity epidemic. Senator James Eldridge, sponsored a bill (Senate bill 1019) to require zoning to protect open spaces and areas to develop. It would also create partnerships to prioritize state funding for communities that adopt standards that are better aligned with state health, environmental, and housing goals.¹³⁸ Polices, programs, and regulatory efforts that address the challenges of the obesity epidemic intersect with a number of domains including health, the environment, and economic development. To effectively change behavior, local, state, and federal governments need to work together with schools, communities, individuals, and businesses for a coordinated effort.



Figure 4. Physical Education Weighted Summary Score (2010) from the Classification of Laws associated with School Students, C.L.A.S.S. (National Cancer Institute).

MA Department of Public Health

The Massachusetts Department of Public Health (MA DPH) has taken significant strides in addressing the obesity epidemic. In 2009 MA DPH launched *Mass in Motion* to promote obesity prevention and wellness with a focus both on physical activity and healthy eating. *Mass in Motion* has distributed community-based wellness grants to 53 towns and cities in order to jump-start initiatives at the community level.¹³⁹

The MA DPH was also granted funding from the CDC's Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration (CORD) project which works to improve the nutritional health and activity levels among underserved children by investing in existing community efforts that combat childhood obesity.¹⁴⁰ The four year CORD project targets children ages 2-12 years who are covered by the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) in order to implement innovative approaches to improve children's health by involving a variety of stakeholders. This funding has been allocated to Fitchburg and New Bedford and has already been successful in enabling the bike path collaboration between New Bedford and Fall River. Upon completion of the grant, researchers will assess the overall impact of the projects to inform best practices in childhood obesity prevention efforts in Massachusetts communities. By providing financial support at the local level, *Mass in Motion* and the CORD grants provided seed money with significant community flexibility and have been successful in allowing communities to utilize resources in the most effective means that fit their needs.

The MA DPH also has a Health Prevention and Promotion line item which funds programs to prevent and control conditions that contribute to health care costs and those that are most preventable including obesity, heart disease, and diabetes. Preventive programs are vital to ensure a healthy community and reduce health care expenditures. Without these funds from the MA DPH, *Mass in Motion* communities would not be able to implement the successful initiatives highlighted below. Despite these efforts, budget cuts continue to threaten the

Mass in Motion

Launched in 2009 by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health

- Statewide obesity prevention initiative that promotes physical activity and healthy eating.
- Key components:
 - Schools: BMI testing of public school students in grades 1, 4, 7 and 10
 - *Statewide*: Executive Order (E0509) by Governor Patrick requiring state agencies that serve food to provide nutrition standards
 - Communities: There are currently 33 MIM programs that serve 53 municipalities.
 - *Workplace*: Worksite Wellness Program to encourage health behaviors and reduce health care costs.
 - Mass in Motion website to raise awareness about healthy choices.
 - MA Children at Play Initiative and 2000-Calorie Campaign funded by federal grants

sustainability of these public health initiatives.¹⁴² This underscores the need for policy-makers to intervene now in order to ensure programs that promote healthier lifestyles continue to succeed.

Community-Based Interventions and Infrastructure Development

Community-based interventions have the potential to address many factors that affect a child's access to physical activity including access to safe sidewalks and neighborhoods, recreational areas, bike paths, public transportation, and open space in order to build communities that are more pedestrian and cyclist friendly. Local coalitions can be created in order to ensure partnerships between local officials, police department, Department of Transportation, Parks and Recreational Department, and volunteers. Each community can conduct their own needs assessment to determine where the needs are greatest, and then target resources in those areas to achieve the greatest impact. Appropriate funding and resources at the local level are necessary to maximize effectiveness and make sustainable changes.

Mass in Motion (MIM) Success Stories from Wellness Grants:

Springfield, Massachusetts

Springfield has one of the highest obesity rates in Massachusetts (43.6% of children are overweight or obese). Springfield mapped out neighborhoods that lacked safe areas for physical activity which were also the areas in the city with the highest obesity rates. With their MIM grant, they targeted the areas of greatest need by implementing two programs.

- Open Gyms Program:¹⁴³ With additional funding donated from Health New England and the Davis Foundation, Springfield implemented a joint use policy with local elementary school gyms. The joint use policy allowed the gyms to be open after school hours to the public during the winter time. Despite little marketing, on average 70 kids per night showed up to play at the gym. After a successful year they were able partner with a community center which was taken over by a YMCA to offer hip hop dance lessons.
- Walking School Bus: Three out of fiftyfour schools have signed on to do safe routes to school walking school bus where a staff member walks with children to and from school. Springfield hopes to expand this program to other schools and acquire stipends to pay for parents to monitor the children.

Gloucester, Massachusetts

- Gloucester implemented their Get Fit Gloucester!¹⁴⁴ Project with their MIM grant money. Partnering with the Community Development Department, the city repaired sidewalks and improved roads to make them more pedestrian friendly.
- The city has also expanded pedestrian access between downtown and the harbor front. It has expanded the Harborwalk so more than 200 pedestrians each hour can walk along the waterfront.

 Gloucester has also developed its first Open Space and Recreation (OSRC) Plan in the past 12 years. Now they have a comprehensive list of parks, playgrounds, beaches, and other open space areas; and have utilized a GIS database and maps to analyze areas in need of more open spaces.

Fitchburg, Massachusetts

Fitchburg has the second highest rate of childhood obesity in Massachusetts. Despite having 44 different parks in Fitchburg, 18 of them classified as active, many have remained underused due to safety concerns. Fun 'n FITchburg¹⁴⁵ (Fitchburg MIM) was able to conduct park and walk audits including interviews with stakeholders, youth and residents to find that common barriers to use the parks included: lack of signage, graffiti, used needles and syringes, litter, and isolated areas which posed safety concerns. Partnering with the community, departments such as the City Police, Board of Health, Parks and Recreation, and Department of Public Works Fitchburg has created and implemented policy, systems, and environmental changes that increase safety in parks, access to parks, and resources for key city departments including:

- An Adopt-a-Park program and campaign with 5 parks adopted by community groups/individuals and improvements under way (weekly clean -ups, plantings, and trash reports to DPW)
- A multi-media campaign to create high profile parks image (Rock with *Fun 'n FITchburg PSA*)

 Working with local environmental groups to begin creation of natural open space and new park (plantings, clearing near climbing tree, creating a path from field to parking lot) in public housing

Working on Wellness Program (MA DPH)

- Guides employers on how to create the infrastructure to maintain and support a healthy workforce. Activities include:
 - Creating new policies in the workplace like improving stairwells and outdoor spaces
 - Exploring ways to take advantage of healthcare benefits
 - Incorporating wellness into the company's overall mission
- The Family Service Association (FSA), a non-profit organization in Fall River, MA that employs almost 350 workers, joined the MA DPH's Working on Wellness program in order to assess employee's health behaviors and develop a wellness program. Activities of the wellness program included blood drives, team-based walking competition, stress reduction program, and proper footwear and care fashion show. The program resulted in an overall reduction in cholesterol, stress, and weight loss, as well as, a decrease in employee turnover to 10.6% in 2009 from 17% in 2008.

Active Projects in MA Communities

Shape Up Somerville: Shape-Up Somerville: Eat Smart, Play Hard¹⁴⁷ was initially funded by a research grant obtained by Tufts University through the Centers for Disease Control. It was first implemented by the City of Somerville in 2002 and has been self-sustainable since 2006 through community and grant support. In the fall of 2011, Somerville was awarded federal Community Transformation Grant (CTG) dollars and became part of the Mass in Motion initiative. This city-wide endeavor takes a multi-faceted approach to promote healthful eating and lifestyles. Some of the eleven initiatives that relate to physical activity include:

- Healthy Eating Active Time (HEAT) curriculum for classroom and afterschool programs
- Parent, city employee, pediatrician and community outreach
- Improved walkability through promotion of the Safe Routes to School program
- Extension of the Community Path to create access to a low income neighborhood
- Outreach and training for school nurses to conduct height and weight measurements
- Policy initiatives to promote wellness of students, school staff and city employees

 Farmers markets and community/ school gardens

Hubway: In 2011, Mayor Menino signed a contract with Alta Bicycle Share to announce Boston's first bike share system. Launched in July 2011 with over 600 bicycles and in 61 stations throughout Boston, Hubway members can grab a bicycle and cycle around the city. As of November 2011, 3,600 people had signed up. The City of Boston is working with MassDOT, MAPC, MBTA and the FTA to expand the system to other communities including Brookline, Cambridge, and Somerville.¹⁴⁸

These initiatives have been so successful because funding was secured by the MA DPH, help from the federal government, and through other partnerships to allow communities to allocate resources to the highest areas of need in their areas. Shape Up Somerville was a community-based participatory research project spearheaded by Tufts University which worked closely with restaurants, transportation department, grocery stores, and schools in order to assess and maximize their efforts. Springfield was able to evaluate their Open Gyms Program and found that many girls were not attending. After partnership with a community center, Springfield has been able to attract more girls to the program through their dance classes. These examples show that in order to make the most cost-effective impact that is most equitable, then each community must assess and constantly evaluate where their needs lie. Coalitions can be utilized as a place for all parties (corporations, universities, schools, police departments, community centers, public health agencies, government officials, transportation workers, etc.) to come together and collaborate in order to implement best practices that are best suited for their community. It is vital to maintain the success and sustainability of these initiatives that continued funding and support be allocated to communities and public health agencies.

School-Based Programs

School-based programs are critical for our success in combating obesity.¹⁴⁹ Children spend most of their days at school and in before or after school programs. Recommendations by the IOM state that we should be striving to ensure that all students in grades K-12 have adequate opportunities to engage in 60 minutes of physical activity per school day including time spent in quality physical education.¹⁵⁰ To reach this impressive goal, key strategies for Massachusetts would include: strengthening school wellness policies, enacting policies to improve the quality and frequency of physical education for grades K-12, ensuring that at least 50% of PE time be dedicated to moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, and having local agencies

that adopt programs and requirements that include opportunities for active transport, intramural sports, active recess, classroom breaks, after-school physical activity programming, and integrate physical activity into lesson plans.¹⁵¹

The path to progress is underway in our state. MA DPH has implemented a Coordinated School Health Program (CSH) that partners with the MA Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. Funded by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the CSH promotes the physical, social, and emotional health of our children and youth by delivering evidence-based health education, developing health-related policies, and promoting healthy school environments.¹⁵³ Through this partnership, the MA DPH works to improve coordination between schools and communities. Boston Public Schools is a great example of a district that has used this model to incorporate wellness into whole-school improvement. They have dramatically improved the quality and access to physical education and worked creatively to integrate physical activity across the school day – SPARK (research-based PE programs and curriculum)¹⁵⁴ is being used in K-8th and

School Wellness Policies. School wellness policies are in the middle of a makeover. The *Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010* expanded the scope of school wellness policies. That same year, the MA legislature passed "An Act Relative to School Nutrition" which called for regulations facilitating the establishment of school wellness advisory committees (SWAC); these regulations go into effect in August 2012. SWAC's are standing committees, appointed by the superintendent, which are required to include school nurses, physical activity staff, school nutrition staff, parents, students, school committee members, school administrators and the public. The group must conduct a needs assessment and develop and implement an annual plan, both of which must include attention to nutrition, physical activity and obesity. They will also be charged with evaluating progress and writing an annual report. SWAC's can play a major role in setting physical activity goals along with suggesting key elements for implementation. The CDC has put together a set of guidelines to promote both health eating and physical activity which can support local school wellness policies (Appendix III).¹⁵² BOKS (see below)¹⁵⁵ has already been implemented in 19 elementary schools. They have also incorporated annual fitness testing in several grades using FITNESSGRAM.¹⁵⁶

Barriers to increasing physical activity in schools - budget cuts, pressures to increase standardized test scores - need to be addressed in cost effective solutions that do not take away from classroom instruction time. Innovative activity bursts and monitored recess are less costly options that do not take away from classroom time but ensure children are staying active. In addition, funds and support need to be spent on innovative school pilot programs. Examples of some existing creative initiatives are detailed below.

ABC for Fitness (Activity Bursts): ABC for Fitness is a physical activity program for elementary school children to help them settle down and concentrate during school through structured and productive bursts of supervised physical activity. It is a simple, fun, no-cost program that encourages physical activity during the day without taking away from classroom instruction. It was developed at the Yale School of Public Health.¹⁵⁷

BOKS (Build Our Kids' Success): BOKS is a before-school program that provides physical activity opportunities for elementary school children. Powered by communities, schools, and volunteers, BOKS energizes children in before school activities, promotes team building exercises, teaches children a skill to maintain a healthy lifestyle, and gives them tools to stay active throughout the school day such as BOKs bursts. BOKS is based on Dr. John Ratey's research in his book *Spark*, which explores how moderate exercise can help enhance memory, improve thinking, lift individual's mood, and helps individuals handle stress.¹⁵⁸ BOKS operates in more than 30 schools in Massachusetts including Boston Public Schools, schools in Holyoke and Natick, and has several programs in New York and Washington D.C.¹⁵⁹

Playworks is a national nonprofit organization that promotes safe and healthy inclusive play and physical activity to low-income schools at recess and during the day. It is the only nonprofit organization in the country that sends fulltime trained program coordinators, called "coaches," to low-income urban schools to enhance the recess experience and help them focus and ready to learn in the classroom. They operate in more than 300 schools in 23 cities across the nation, serving more than 130,000 elementary school students each day.¹⁶⁰ Since 2006, the Metro Boston branch has worked in 27 schools and plans to expand to 40 schools in 2013.¹⁶¹

Many of these programs operate at relatively low cost without interrupting classroom instruction time. Complementing PE classes with activity opportunities scattered throughout the day enables each student to obtain the adequate amount of activity. For example, the recommended 60 minutes of activity can be broken into different components like 10 minutes of activity bursts, 30 minutes at recess, and 20 minutes of play before school. It is important to note that most of these programs such as Playworks and BOKS do not require the school to have access to gyms; instead many of the the Playworks and BOKS staff are creative with utilizing spaces in schools such as using school cafeterias for a fun exercise. Some schools have also partnered with local parks, community centers, or colleges within the area in order to use their open spaces and recreational centers, and corporate sponsorships may be able to provide some additional resources to the schools.

Out-of-school time. While much effort is currently aimed at improving the school wellness environment, research on the impact of childhood obesity prevention programs during out-of-school time are limited. The majority of school-aged children in the U.S. are currently enrolled in out-of-school activities, including after school, weekend and summer activities. However, there is great variability in the foods and beverages served and opportunities for physical activity offered to children participating in these programs. Comprehensive, evidence-based physical activity and healthy eating standards for out-of-school time programs in the U.S. were developed locally through Wellesley College's National Institute on Out-of-School Time (NIOST), YMCA of the USA, and a coalition of other national afterschool service and advocacy groups. The standards are currently being integrated into afterschool accreditation requirements.

The comprehensive NIOST standards were designed for programs that serve children for 3 hours or more per day and provide meals, snacks, and childcare. More succinct messaging may be necessary for other, shorter out of school time programs. Such messaging has also been developed locally by the Healthy Kids Out of School Initiative as part of Childhood Obesity 180 – a national strategy to catalyze, prioritize and drive the necessary systemic changes to reverse the trend of childhood obesity within one generation's time.¹⁶² The implementation and evaluation of this messaging in Massachusetts, Maine and New Hampshire is currently being researched by Tufts University through funding by the Harvard Pilgrim Healthcare Institute.

Federal Efforts

Besides state and community aid, federal funding opportunities surrounding public health efforts have enabled states to implement some preventive measures within their communities. The CDC and Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) are responsible for the majority of federal programming that targets obesity. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) gave out more than \$100 million in Community Transformation Grant (CTG) funding to states and communities to fight chronic disease. Massachusetts Department of Public Health was the only state health department to receive two CTG grants for \$1.5 million each.¹⁶³

Let's Move is First Lady Michelle Obama's comprehensive initiative to raise awareness about the obesity epidemic and promote healthy lifestyles.¹⁶⁴ She launched the initiative in 2010 to raise awareness about the issue across the country to children, parents, teachers, and policy makers.

National Physical Activity Plan is a comprehensive set of policies to increase physical activity across the nation through a

collaborative private-public partnership.¹⁶⁵ Partners include government agencies such as the CDC and the USDA to scientific organizations such as the American College of Sports Medicine, to societies such as the American Medical Association, the American Heart Association, and the American Academy of Pediatrics.

Affordable Care Act (ACA) provides several areas to enhance obesity prevention such as the Prevention and Public Health Fund, Community Transformation Grants (CTG), expanded coverage of preventive services, nutrition labeling, Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation, and the Children's Health Insurance Program Childhood Obesity Demonstration Project.¹⁶⁶ In 2011, \$103 million was given to 61 counties and states for CTG that focused on prevention priorities.¹⁶⁷ The Massachusetts Department of Public Health received over \$3 million from the CTG to work on expanding efforts in active living and healthy eating, social and emotional wellness, safe physical environments, tobacco prevention, and other preventive services.¹⁶⁸

*Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient, Transportation Equity (Surface) Act*¹⁶⁹

addresses the obesity problem through enhancing access to transportation and increasing the availability of sidewalks and bike paths in order to enhance physical activity. The act encourages communities to incorporate compete streets and safe routes to schools.

Other State Efforts

State policy plays an important role in tilting the energy balance equation towards a more active and healthy lifestyle. West Virginia has successfully modeled its own state physical activity plan after the national plan. Their physical activity plan provides a strategic direction for physical activity promotion across the state. The priority areas include: 1) School-based programs & initiatives; 2) Public awareness & social marketing; 3) Community engagement & environment; 4) Institutional & organizational support; and 5) Policy.

To date, 21 states have legislation concerning BMI or health information collection. This information is vital for policy makers to see where the most vulnerable populations are, but also enable school officials and communities to raise awareness about the issue and garner support to address the problem. Twelve states require fitness testing which is another means to monitor and access fitness capabilities of each student.

All states with the exception of Colorado and Oklahoma require schools to provide health education, however, health or physical education does not ensure children are receiving enough physical activity within their day. Furthermore, only 6 of those states require PE for all grade levels. Eleven states have physical activity requirements; Massachusetts is not one of them (Figure 7).¹⁷⁰ Some states have started enacting laws to require schools to provide a certain number of minutes and/ or level of physical activity including Colorado, Illinois, Ohio, and Tennessee this past year.¹⁷¹ These states can be good examples for Massachusetts to follow in terms of specific legislative requirements.

Figure 7. 2011 United States Legislation School Standards

Type of Legislation	Enacted
BMI or Health Information Collection	21 States: AR, CA, DE, FL, IL, IA, LA, ME, MA, MO, NV, NY, NC, OH, OK, PA, SC, TN, TX, VT, WV
Physical Activity (min requirement)	11 States: AZ, CO, IL, IN, KY, LA, ME, NC, ND, OH, TN
Require Physical Education K-12	6 States: IL, IA, MA, NM, NY, VT (NJ and RI require PE in grades 1-12)
Require fitness testing	12 States: AL, AR, CA, CT, DE, MO, MS, SC, TX, UT, VA, WV

(adapted from Trust for America's Health and AAHPERD)^{172,173}

Final Recommendation

As First Lady Michelle Obama said, "It wasn't that long ago that here in America, our children led reasonably healthy lives. They walked to school, had recess every day and gym class several times a week, and spent afternoons playing for hours outside. Home-cooked meals were the norm, fast food was a special treat, and snacking between meals was against the rules. But today, for many children, all that has changed."

We have a problem: obesity rates remain steady, physical inactivity is rampant, diabetes and other chronic illnesses are on the rise, and the economic burden is real. We have minimal policies in place to support daily physical activity and our low state ranking in high school physical activity levels demonstrate the magnitude of the problem within our state. Solutions based on key strategies must be promoted and implemented – through individuals, schools, communities, and the state – with initiatives, programs and policies. Viable options could include:

- Design and support a Massachusetts Physical Activity Plan modeled off of our National Physical Activity Plan to ensure that physical activity is a priority in our state
- Set state-wide policies for quality physical education, more physical activity, and ample recess time in schools
- Require schools to administer physical fitness testing
- Provide funding to communities and schools to enhance quality physical

education and develop other innovative school-based initiatives

- Convene strong and supportive school wellness committees to help schools commit to physical activity regulations and recommendations
- Implement zoning changes in the built environment around access to open spaces, public transportation, and safe routes to walk
- Build communities that are pedestrian and cyclist friendly, create schoolyards, open spaces, and trails that are safe and accessible, and improve public transit systems to promote active living
- Increase Department of Public Health funding for physical activity programs via *Mass in Motion*
- Build support for the Affordable Care Act and the funds it supports such as Community Transformation Grants
- Support additional surveillance and evaluation of these policies and programs to inform best practices and sustain the success of existing initiatives

School and community interventions have already begun to attack the problem at various levels. Although many of these programs cost money now, they will lead to long-term benefits and reduced costs later on. Prevention is always cheaper than a cure. In order to have the greatest impact that is most equitable and cost-effective, policy makers need to pull from these best practices and adopt a solution that best fits their community. To be most successful, policies need to be incorporated at the legislative, school, community, and infrastructure/transportation level. Studies have shown that when communities implement initiatives to increase physical activity, children are significantly more engaged when parents are aware of the initiative and are involved in the process.¹⁷⁴ A coordinated strategy that partners with various stakeholders will maximize resources and garner support. Attacking the problem from many angles will enable these efforts to positively impact the movement against obesity. As the Institute of Medicine has stated, Massachusetts needs to "Integrate physical activity every day in every way."

Acknowledgements

We would like to gratefully acknowledge all those, including several Mass In Motion communities, who shared information about physical activity policies, programs, initiatives, and data throughout Massachusetts. A special thanks to Eileen Sullivan and Commissioner Auerbach from the Department of Public Health and Dr. Carol Goodenow from the Department of Education for their thoughtful feedback on the research brief. Finally, a special thanks to Dr. Michael Doonan and Brandeis University, along with Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Harvard Pilgrim Health Care Foundation, The Boston Foundation, and NEHI who made this forum possible.

APPENDIX I.

Surveys

<u>Massachusetts Youth Health Survey (YHS).</u> The Massachusetts YHS is the Massachusetts Department of Public Health's (MDPH) surveillance project to assess the health of youth and young adults in grades 6-12. It is conducted by the MDPH Health Survey Program in collaboration with the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) in randomly selected public middle and high schools in every odd-numbered year. The anonymous survey contains health status questions in addition to questions about risk behaviors and protective factors.

Massachusetts Youth Risk Behavior Survey measures high school risk behaviors over time. DPH's Youth Health Survey provides a snapshot of middle school student risk behaviors as well as other health status indicators in high school.

<u>National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES)</u>. NHANES data are obtained by direct measurement and physical examinations conducted by study staff. The most recent data on BMI in children and youth is available through 2010.¹⁷⁵

<u>Pediatric Nutrition Surveillance System (PedNSS</u>). PedNSS tracks health outcome data in lowincome children between 0 to 5 years old participating in Federal child nutrition programs. Data are collected as part of clinic visits then analyzed at the state level.

<u>Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance Survey (YRBSS).</u> The YRBSS collects anonymous self-report data on height, weight, diet, physical activity from students in grades 9-12. Massachusetts data are available through 2009 and a few statistics are available from 2011. Boston data from the YRBSS are available due to the city's participation in the CDC's "Steps to a Healthier U.S." campaign.

<u>Massachusetts Essential School Health Services Data (MESHS)</u>. The Massachusetts Department of Public Health's MESHS program promotes comprehensive school health services and coordination with local healthcare providers. Health screenings, including height and weight measurements are part of this model. During 2008-2009, height and weight of pupils in grades 1, 4, 7 and 10 were measured in 89 of the 109 Massachusetts school districts (82% of participating districts) participating in the ESHS Program.

• 946 schools in 80 ESHS school districts School nurses in 76 districts conducted Body Mass Index screenings on 109,674 students in grades 1, 4, 7 and 10. In each of the 4 grade levels, at least 28% of the students screened were overweight or obese.

APPENDIX II.

Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans

In 2008, the Department of Health and Human Services issued the first-ever Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. The guidelines provide physical activity recommendations for Americans over the age of six.

Adults. For adults, the guidelines recommend that adults engage in a minimum of 150 minutes each week of moderate-intensity exercise, or 75 minutes of vigorous physical activity. Moderate-intensity aerobic activity includes activities like brisk walking, while vigorous-intensity aerobic activities include jogging or running, swimming laps, and hiking uphill. For more health benefits, adults should increase their aerobic physical activity to five hours a week of moderate-intensity, or 150 minutes a week of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity. At least 2 days per week, adults should incorporate muscle strengthening activities such as weight training, push -ups, sit-ups, carrying heavy loads or heavy gardening.

Children. For children (2-19 years), aerobic activity should make up most of your child's 60 or more minutes of physical activity each day. This can include either moderate-intensity aerobic activity, such as brisk walking, or vigorous-intensity activity, such as running or jumping rope. Children should be engaged in vigorous-intensity aerobic activity on at least 3 days per week. In addition, muscle strengthening activities, such as gymnastics or push-ups, and bone strengthening activities such as jumping rope or running, should each be included at least 3 days per week as part of the 60-minute per day recommendation.

APPENDIX III.

CDC's School Health Guidelines to Promote Healthy Eating and Physical Activity¹⁷⁷

- 1. Use a coordinated approach to develop, implement, and evaluate healthy eating and physical activity policies and practices.
- 2. Establish school environments that support healthy eating and physical activity.
- 3. Provide a quality school meal program and ensure that students have only appealing, healthy food and beverage choices offered outside of the school meal program.
- 4. Implement a comprehensive physical activity program with quality physical education as the cornerstone.
- 5. Implement health education that provides students with the knowledge, attitudes, skills, and experiences needed for lifelong healthy eating and physical activity.
- 6. Provide students with health, mental health, and social services to address healthy eating, physical activity, and related chronic disease prevention.
- 7. Partner with families and community members in the development and implementation of healthy eating and physical activity policies, practices, and programs.
- 8. Provide a school employee wellness program that includes healthy eating and physical activity services for all school staff members.
- Employ qualified persons, and provide professional development opportunities for physical education, health education, nutrition services, and health, mental health, and social services staff members, as well as staff members who supervise recess, cafeteria time, and out-ofschool-time programs.

End Note

¹Trust for America's Health. *F as in Fat: How Obesity Threatens America's Future*. Washington D.C.: Trust for America's Health, 2011. Web. 3 March 2012.

< http://www.healthyamericans.org/assets/files/TFAH2011FasInFat10.pdf>

²NEHI "Healthy People/Healthy Economy: First Annual Report Card." 2011. Web Accessed March 2012. <<u>http://www.tbf.org/uploadedFiles/tbforg/Utility Navigation/Multimedia Library/Reports/HPHE ReportCard 2011.pdf</u> > ³Kaiser Foundation: State Health Facts. Percentage of High School Students Not meeting Recommended Physical

Activity Level, 2009. Kaiser Foundation: 2009. Web Accessed March 2012.

<<u>http://www.statehealthfacts.org/comparemaptable.jsp?typ=2&ind=766&cat=2&sub=27&sortc=1&o=a ></u> ⁴<u>http://class.cancer.gov/About.aspx Assessed May 8</u>, 2012.

⁵Sacheck, J.M., E. Goodman, V. Chomitz, J. Kuder, A. Must, C. Economos. School-based fitness testing is associated with metabolic risk factors in schoolchildren independent of weight status. *Med Sci Sports Exer.* 42(5):S37, 2010.
⁶Hruby, A., V. Chomitz, L.N. Arsenault, A. Must, C.D. Economos, R. McGowan, J.M. Sacheck. School-based fitness measures as predictors of incidence and remission of overweight/obesity in children. *Obesity*. Feb 6, 2012 Epub ahead of print.

⁷Kim J, Must A, Fitzmaurice GM, et al. Relationship of physical fitness to prevalence and incidence of overweight among schoolchildren. *Obesity Research*. Jul 2005;13(7):1246-1254.

⁸Cawley J, Meyerhoefer C. "The medical care costs of obesity: an instrumental variables approach." <u>Journal of</u> <u>Health Economics</u>. 31:219-30. 2012

⁹Finkenstein E, Trogdon J. "Public health interventions for addressing childhood overweight: analysis of the business case." American Journal of Public Health. 2008;98(3): 411-415

¹⁰Busko M. "As treatment costs soar, AHA preaches prevention as savvy investment." *Heartwire* July 26, 2011. <<u>www.theheart.org/article/1256761.do</u> > (assessed March 10, 2012)

¹¹Ibid.

¹²Ibid

¹³U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2008

¹⁴Trust for America's Health. *F as in Fat: How Obesity Threatens America's Future*. Washington D.C.: Trust for America's Health, 2011. Web. 3 March 2012.

< http://www.healthyamericans.org/assets/files/TFAH2011FasInFat10.pdf>

¹⁵Ibid

¹⁶Ibid

¹⁷Massachusetts Department of Public Health, Bureau of Community Health Access and Promotion, Office of Statistics and Evaluation. *The Essential School Health Services Program Data Report 2008 – 2009 School Year.* Spring 2011.

¹⁸National Initiative for Children's Healthcare Quality. *Massachusetts State Fact Sheet*. 2007. Web accessed March 2012. <<u>http://www.childhealthdata.org/docs/nsch-docs/massachusetts-pdf.pdf</u> >

¹⁹Land K. 2008 Special Focus Report: Trends in Infancy/Early Childhood and Middle Childhood Well-Being, 1994-2006. The Foundation for Child Development Child and Youth Well-Being Index (CWI) Project. Durham, NC: Duke University; April 25 2008.

²⁰Wen, X, M Gillman, S Rifas-Shiman, B Sherry, K Kleinman, EM Taveras. Decreasing prevalence of obesity among young children in Massachusetts from 2004 to 2008. Pediatrics. 129(5):823-831, 2012.

²¹Ogden, CL, MD Carroll, BK Kit, KM Flegal. Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among US children and adolescents, 1999-2000. JAMA. 2012;307(5):483-490.

²²Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. "Health and Risk Behaviors of Massachusetts Youth." Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance Survey (YRBSS) 2009. Web Accessed March 2012. < <u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/behavioral-risk/2009-yrbs.pdf</u> > ²³MA Department of Elementary & Secondary Education, MA Department of Public Health. *The Obesity Epidemic and Massachusetts Students, 2011 Fact Sheet*. <u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/com-health/school/csh-factsheet-obesity-2011.pdf</u>

²⁴Wang YC, Gortmaker SL, Sobol AM, Kuntz KM. Estimating the energy gap among US children: A counterfactual approach. *Pediatrics.* 2006;118(6):e1721-1733.

Wang, YC, T Orleans, SL Gortmaker. Reaching the healthy people goals for reducing childhood obesity. *Am J Prev Med.* 2012

²⁶Ibid

²⁷Ibid

²⁸Massachusetts Department of Public Health, Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. 2009 Health and Risk Behaviors of Massachusetts Youth. 2011

²⁹Sacheck, J and V. Clark. *Childhood Obesity in Massachusetts: Trends, Problems, and Solutions*. MA Health Policy Forum Presentation, 2006.

³⁰Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Physical activity trends--United States, 1990-1998. MMWR- Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report. 2001;50(9):166-169.

³¹Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Physical activity levels among children aged 9-13 years -- United States, 2002. *MMWR- Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report.* 2003;52(33):785.

³²McCraken M, Jiles R, Blanck H. Health behaviors of the young adult U.S. population: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2003. *Preventing Chronic Disease*. 2007;4(2):A25.

³³Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Adult participation in recommended levels of physical activity ---United States, 2001 and 2003. *MMWR- Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report.* 2005;54(47):1208.

³⁴U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *U.S. Physical Activity Statistics: Summary of Physical Activity,* 2008. <u>http://apps.nccd.cdc.gov/PASurveillance/</u> StateSumResultV.asp

³⁵Haskell W L, Blair SN, and Bouchard C. An Integrated View of Physical Activity, Fitness and Health. Chap. 23, In *Physical Activity and Health*, edited by Bouchard C, Blair SN and Haskell WL. Vol.1, 359-374. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, 2007

³⁶Hedley A, C Ogden, C Johnson, M Carroll, L Curtin, K Flegal. Prevalence of Overweight and Obesity among U.S. Children, Adolescents, and Adults; 1999-2002. *JAMA*. 291(23):2847-2850, 2004.

³⁷Tudor-Locke C, and Bassett DR. How Many Steps/Day Are Enough? Preliminary Pedometer Indices for Public Health. *Sports Medicine*, 34(1): 1-8, 2004

³⁸U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2008

³⁹Troiano R, Berrigan D, Dodd K, Masse L, Tilert T, McDowell M. Physical activity in the United States measured by accelerometer. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2008;40(1):181-188.

⁴⁰U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Physical Activity Levels among Children Aged 9-13years — United States, 2002. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 52(33):785, 2003

⁴¹Kaiser Foundation: *State Health Facts. Percentage of High School Students Not meeting Recommended Physical Activity Level, 2009*. Kaiser Foundation: 2009. Web Accessed March 2012.

<http://www.statehealthfacts.org/comparemaptable.jsp?typ=2&ind=766&cat=2&sub=27&sortc=1&o=a >

⁴²Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. Health and Risk Behaviors of Massachusetts Youth. Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance Survey (YRBSS) 2009. Web Accessed March 2012. < <u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/behavioral-risk/2009-yrbs.pdf</u> >

⁴³MA Department of Elementary & Secondary Education, MA Department of Public Health. The Obesity Epidemic and Massachusetts Students, 2011 Fact Sheet. <u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/com-health/school/csh-factsheet-obesity-2011.pdf</u>

⁴⁴Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. Health and Risk Behaviors of Massachusetts Youth. *Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance Survey (YRBSS) 2009*. Web Accessed March 2012. < <u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/behavioral-risk/2009-yrbs.pdf</u> > ⁴⁵Ibid. ⁴⁶Trust for America's Health. *F as in Fat: How Obesity Threatens America's Future*. Washington D.C.: Trust for America's Health, 2011. Web. 3 March 2012.

< http://www.healthyamericans.org/assets/files/TFAH2011FasInFat10.pdf>

⁴⁷Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, Massachusetts Department of Public Health. *Health and Risk Behaviors of Massachusetts Youth, 2009: The Report* 2011.

⁴⁸National Association for Sport and Physical Education. <u>www.aahperd.org/naspe/standards/nationalGuidelines/</u> Assessed March 10, 2012.

⁴⁹Chomitz V SM, Dawson G, McGowan R, Hacker K. Is there a relationship between physical fitness and academic achievement? Positive results from public school children in the northeastern U.S. *Journal of School Health*. 79 (1):30-37. 2009

⁵⁰Carrel A, Clark R, Peterson S, Nemeth B, Sullivan J, Allen D. Improvement of fitness, body composition, and insulin sensitivity in overweight children in a school-based exercise program. *Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine*. 2005;159:963-968.

⁵¹Sacheck, J.M., E. Goodman, V. Chomitz, J. Kuder, A. Must, C. Economos. School-based fitness testing is associated with metabolic risk factors in schoolchildren independent of weight status. *Med Sci Sports Exer.* 42(5):S37, 2010 ⁵²Hruby, A., V. Chomitz, L.N. Arsenault, A. Must, C.D. Economos, R. McGowan, J.M. Sacheck. School-based fitness

measures as predictors of incidence and remission of overweight/obesity in children. *Obesity*. Feb 6, 2012 Epub ahead of print.

⁵³National Association of Sports and Physical Education (NASPE). *National Standards for Physical Education* NASPE: 2004. Web Accessed March 2012.

< http://www.aahperd.org/naspe/standards/nationalStandards/PEstandards.cfm >

⁵⁴Massachusetts Department of Education. *A Guide to Federal and State Special Education Requirements in Massachusetts*. 2000.

⁵⁵American Alliance for Health, Physical Education, Recreation and Dance (AAHPERD). "Shape of the Nation Report." AAHPERD: 2010. Web Accessed March 2012.

⁵⁶The 187th General Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. *Bill H. 1157: An Act to Promote Healthy People and a Healthy Economy in Massachusetts.* 2011. Web Accessed March 2012.

<<u>http://www.malegislature.gov/Bills/187/House/H01157</u> >

⁵⁷Malina RM. Physical fitness of children and adolescents in the United States: status and secular change. *Medicine* & *Sport Science*. 2007;50:67-90.

⁵⁸Tomkinson GR, Leger LA, Olds TS, Cazorla G. Secular trends in the performance of children and adolescents (1980-2000): an analysis of 55 studies of the 20m shuttle run test in 11 countries. *Sports Medicine*. 2003;33(4):285-300.

⁵⁹Pate RR, Wang CY, Dowda M, Farrell SW, O'Neill JR. Cardiorespiratory fitness levels among US youth 12 to 19 years of age. *Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine*. 2006;160:1005-1012.

⁶⁰Lee D, X Sui, EG Artero, I Lee, TS Church, PA McAuley, FC Stanford, HW Kohl, SN Blair. Long-Term Effects of Changes in Cardiorespiratory Fitness and Body Mass Index on All-Cause and Cardiovascular Disease Mortality in Men. *Circulation*. **2011**; 124: **2483-2490**

⁶¹American Alliance for Health, Physical Education, Recreation and Dance (AAHPERD). *Shape of the Nation Report. AAHPERD: 2010*. Web Accessed March 2012.

< http://www.aahperd.org/naspe/publications/upload/Shape-of-the-tion-Revised2PDF.pdf >

⁶²Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. 2011 Massachusetts YRBS. Assessed March 2012 http://www.doe.mass.edu/cnp/hprograms/yrbs/

⁶³Healthy Children Task Force. *Research and Evaluation*. Cambridge, MA: Institute for Community Health; 2007.
 ⁶⁴Institute for Community Health. *PEP Presentation to Somerville Public School District*. Somerville: Somerville Public School Department; Dec 5, 2007.

⁶⁵Kim J, Must A, Fitzmaurice GM, et al. Relationship of physical fitness to prevalence and incidence of overweight among schoolchildren. *Obesity Research*. Jul 2005;13(7):1246-1254.

⁶⁶Aryana, M, Li, Z, Bommer, WJ. Obesity and physical fitness in California school children. Am Heart J. 2012

⁶⁷Hamer, M. and Y. Chida. Active commuting and cardiovascular risk: A meta-analytic review. *Preventive Medicine*, 46:9-13. 2007.

⁶⁸American Public Health Association. *Get the Facts: Transportation and Public Health*. Washington DC: 2012. Web Accessed May 2012. <<u>http://www.apha.org/NR/rdonlyres/A7EF9051-6182-4229-A961-68CADAC54E3F/0/</u> <u>APHA TransportationPublicHealth Final.pdf</u>>

⁶⁹Edwards, R. Public Transit, Obesity, and Medical Costs: Assessing the Magnitudes. *Preventive Medicine*, 46(1):14-21. 2008.

⁷⁰Frank, LD, Andersen M, and Schmid TL. Obesity Relationships and Community Design, Physical Activity, and Time Spent in Cars. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 27:(2) 2004, 87-96

⁷¹Slater SJ, Ewing R, Powell LM, et al. The Association Between Community Physical Activity Settings and Youth Physical Activity, Obesity, and Body Mass Index. *The Journal of Adolescent Health*, 2010.

⁷²Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. Health and Risk Behaviors of Massachusetts Youth. *Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance Survey (YRBSS) 2009.* Web Accessed March 2012. < <u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/behavioral-risk/2009-yrbs.pdf</u> >

⁷³Slater SJ, Ewing R, Powell LM, et al. The Association Between Community Physical Activity Settings and Youth Physical Activity, Obesity, and Body Mass Index. *The Journal of Adolescent Health*, 2010.

⁷⁴Frank L, Andersen M, Schmid T. Obesity relationships with community design, physical activity, and time spent in cars. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 2004;27:87-96.

⁷⁵Powell L, Slater S, and Chaloupka F. The Relationship between Community Physical Activity Settings and Race, Ethnicity and Socioeconomic Status. *Evidence-Based Preventive Medicine*, 1(2): 135-44, 2004.

⁷⁶Committee on Environmental Health. The built environment: Designing communities to promote physical activity in children. *Pediatrics* 2009;123:1591.

⁷⁷Bell JF, Wilson JS, and Liu GC. Neighborhood Greenness and 2-Year Changes in Body Mass Index of Children and Youth. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 35(6): 547-553, 2008.

⁷⁸deVries S, Bakker I, vanMechelen W, Hopman-Rock M. Determinants of activity-friendly neighborhoods for children: results from the SPACE study. *Am J Health Promot.* 2007;21(4):312-316.

⁷⁹Cawley J, Meyerhoefer C, Newhouse D. The correlation of youth physical activity with state policies. *Contemporary Economic Policy*. 2007;25(4):506-517.

⁸⁰Burdette H, Whitaker R. Resurrecting free play in young children looking beyond fitness and fatness to attention, affiliation, and affect. *Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine*. 2005;159:46-50.

⁸¹Sacheck, J.M., T. Nelson, L. Ficker, T. Kafka, J. Kuder, C.D. Economos. Physical activity during soccer and its contribution to physical activity recommendations in normal weight and overweight children. *Pediatr Exerc Sci.* 23:281-292, 2011.

⁸²Henry J. Kaiser Foundation, Generation M²: Media in the Lives of 8-18 Year Olds, January 2010

⁸³Fleming-Moran M, Thiagarajah K. Behavioral interventions and the role of television in the growing epidemic of adolescent obesity: Data from the 2001 Youth Risk Behavioral Survey. *Methods of Information in Medicine*. 2005;44:303-309.

⁸⁴Kaur H, Choi W, Mayo M, Harris K. Duration of television watching is associated with increased body mass index. *Journal of Pediatrics.* 2003;143:506-511.

⁸⁵Robinson T. Television viewing and childhood obesity. *Pediatric Clinics in North America*. 2001;48:1017-1025.

⁸⁶Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, Massachusetts Department of Public Health. Health and Risk Behaviors of Massachusetts Youth, 2009: The Report 2011.

⁸⁷Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. Health and Risk Behaviors of Massachusetts Youth. *Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance Survey (YRBSS) 2009.* Web Accessed March 2012.< <u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/behavioral-risk/2009-yrbs.pdf</u> >

⁸⁸Committee on Public Education. Children, Adolescents, and Television. *Pediatrics*. 2001;107(2):423-426.

⁸⁹Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health, Maternal and Child Health Bureau, Health Resources and Services Administration. *2007 National Survey of Children's Health.*

⁹⁰Reichert F, Menezes A, Wells J, Dumith S, Hallah P. Physical activity as a predictor of adolescent body fatness: a systemic review." *Sports Med*. 2009;39(4): 279-94

⁹¹U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *The Association between School-based Physical Activity, Including Physical Education, and Academic Performance.* Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2010.

⁹²Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. Health and Risk Behaviors of Massachusetts Youth. *Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance Survey (YRBSS) 2009.* Web Accessed March 2012.

< http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/behavioral-risk/2009-yrbs.pdf >

⁹³Hayne, Cheryl, P. Moran, and M. Ford. Regulating Environment to Reduce Obesity. *Journal of Public Health Policy*, Vol 25, no 3/4 (2004): 391-407.

⁹⁴Shephard RJ. Physical activity and the healthy mind. *Can Med Assoc J*. 1983 Mar 1;128(5):525-30.

⁹⁵Ekeland E, Heian F, Hagen KB. Can exercise improve self esteem in children and young people? A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Br J Sports Med*. 2005 Nov;39(11):792-8.

⁹⁶Taras H. Physical activity and student performance at school. *The Journal of School Health*. 2005 Aug;75(6):214-8. ⁹⁷Trost G. *Active education: Physical education, physical activity and academic performance: Research Brief*, RWJF, Active Living Research, Fall 2007.

⁹⁸Foundation RWJ. *Promoting Healthy Communities and Reducing Childhood Obesity: Legislative Options*. In: Legislatures NCoS (ed). Washington D.C., 2009.

⁹⁹Chomitz V SM, Dawson G, McGowan R, Hacker K. Is there a relationship between physical fitness and academic achievement? Positive results from public school children in the northeastern U.S. *Journal of School Health*. 79 (1):30-37. 2009

¹⁰⁰Sallis J ML, Kolody B, Lewis M, Marshall SJ, Rosengard P. Effects of health related physical education on academic achievement: Project SPARK. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*. 1999;70:127-34.

¹⁰¹Shephard R, Volle M, Lavallee H, LaBarre R, Jequier JC, Rajic M Required physical activity and academic grades: A controlled longitudinal study. . In: Valimaki I (ed). *Children and Sport*. Berlin Springer 1984.

¹⁰²Ismail A. The effects of a well organized physical education programme on intellectual performance. *Research in Physical Education* 1967;1:31-8

¹⁰³Roberts CK FB, McCarthy WJ. Low Aerobic Fitness and Obesity Are Associated with Lower Standardized Test Scores in Children. *J Pediatr.* 2010 Jan 22. [Epub ahead of print].

¹⁰⁴Kwak L KS, Bergman P, Ruiz JR, Rizzo NS, Sjöström M. Associations between physical activity, fitness, and academic achievement. *Pediatr* 2009 Dec;155(6):914-8.e1. Epub 2009 Jul 2.

¹⁰⁵Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *The Association Between School-Based Physical Activity, Including Physical Education, and Academic Performance*. 2010. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/health_and_academics/pdf/pa-pe_paper.pdf</u>

¹⁰⁶Trudeau F, Shephard RJ. Physical education, school physical activity, school sports and academic performance. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2008;5:10.

¹⁰⁷Eveland-Sayers BM, Farley RS, Fuller DK, Morgan DW, Caputo JL. Physical fitness and academic achievement in elementary school children. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*. 2009 Jan;6(1):99-104.

¹⁰⁸World Health Organization. *Risk Factor: Physical Inactivity*. <u>http://www.who.int/cardiovascular_diseases/en/</u> cvd_atlas_08_physical_inactivity.pdf

¹⁰⁹Matthews, CE, SM George, SC Moore, HR Bowles, A Blair, Y Park, RP Troiano, A Hollenbeck, A Schatzkin. Amount of time spent in sedentary behaviors and cause-specific mortality. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;95:437-45.

¹¹⁰D Sander, U. Huntgeburth, H Poppert, H Forstl, H Bickel. Physical activity and incident cognitive impairment in elderly persons. Arch Intern Med. 2010;170(2):186-193.

¹¹¹Trust of America's Health. *Bending the Obesity Cost Curve: Reducing Obesity Rates by 5% Could Lead to More than \$29 billion in Health Care Savings in Five Years.* Feb 2012 <<u>http://healthyamericans.org/report/93/</u>>

¹¹²Finkenstein E, Trogdon J. Public health interventions for addressing childhood overweight: analysis of the business case. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2008;98(3): 411-415

¹¹³Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *Overweight and Obesity: Massachusetts*. CDC: 2011. Web Accessed March 2012. < <u>http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/stateprograms/fundedstates/massachusetts.html</u> >

¹¹⁴Wang G, Dietz WH. Economic Burden of Obesity in Youths Aged 6-17 years: 1979-1999. *Pediatrics* 2002 May; 109 (5).

¹¹⁵Trust of America's Health. *Bending the Obesity Cost Curve: Reducing Obesity Rates by 5% Could Lead to More than \$29 billion in Health Care Savings in Five Years*. Feb 2012 <<u>http://healthyamericans.org/report/93/</u> >

¹¹⁶Cawley J, Meyerhoefer C. The medical care costs of obesity: an instrumental variables approach. <u>Journal of Health</u> <u>Economics</u>, 31:219-30. 2012

¹¹⁷Ibid.

¹¹⁸Finkelstein, EA, Trogdon, JG, Cohen, JW, and Dietz, W. annual medical spending attributable to obesity: Payerand service-specific estimates. *Health Affairs* 2009; 28(5): w822-w831.

¹¹⁹Colditz GA. Economic costs of obesity. *American Journal of Clinical Nutr*ition, 55:503S–507S. 1992.

¹²⁰Cawley J, Meyerhoefer C. The medical care costs of obesity: an instrumental variables approach. *J Health Econ.* 2012; 31:219-30

¹²¹Finkelstein, EA, Trogdon, JG, Cohen, JW, and Dietz, W. annual medical spending attributable to obesity: Payerand service-specific estimates. *Health Affairs* 2009; 28(5): w822-w831.

¹²²National Association for Sport and Physical Education. (2009). *Physical education trends in our nation's schools: A survey of practicing K-12 physical education teachers*. Port Washington, NY: Roslow Research Group.

¹²³Finkelstein, EA, Trogdon, JG, Cohen, JW, and Dietz, W. annual medical spending attributable to obesity: Payerand service-specific estimates. *Health Affairs* 2009; 28(5): w822-w831.

¹²⁴Healthy People/Health Economy. *First Annual Report Card*. NEHI: 2011. Web Accessed March 2012. <<u>http://www.tbf.org/uploadedFiles/tbforg/Utility_Navigation/Multimedia_Library/Reports/</u>

HPHE ReportCard 2011.pdf >

¹²⁵Weintrub WS et al. AHA Policy Statement: Value of Primordial and Primary Prevention for Cardiovascular Disease. *Circulation*, 124:967-990, 2011. <<u>http://circ.ahajournals.org/content/124/8/967</u>>

¹²⁶Busko M. As treatment costs soar, AHA preaches prevention as savvy investment. *Heartwire* July 26, 2011.
<www.theheart.org/article/1256761.do > (assessed March 10, 2012)

¹²⁷Mission: Readiness Military Leaders for Kids. *Too Fat to Fight: Retired Military Leaders Want Junk Food Out of America's Schools*. Washington D.C.: 2010. Web March 2012. <<u>http://cdn.missionreadiness.org/</u> MR Too Fat to Fight-1.pdf >

¹²⁸Ibid.

¹²⁹Trust for America's Health. *F as in Fat: How Obesity Threatens America's Future*. Washington D.C.: Trust for America's Health, 2011. Web. 3 March 2012.

< http://www.healthyamericans.org/assets/files/TFAH2011FasInFat10.pdf>

130Ibid

¹³¹Committee on Accelerating Progress in Obesity Prevention, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. *Accelerating Progress in Obesity Prevention – Solving the Weight of the Nation*. The National Academies Press. Washington, D.C. 2012.

¹³²Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Senate, No. 2314. 2010. Web Accessed March 2012.

<http://www.wbur.org/files/2010/03/0311 nutrition-bill.pdf >

¹³³<u>http://class.cancer.gov/About.aspx Assessed May 8</u>, 2012.

¹³⁴Ibid

¹³⁵Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *Database of State Legislation and Regulatory Action to Prevent Obesity and Improve Nutrition and Physical Activity*. 2012. Web Accessed May 2012.

< http://apps.nccd.cdc.gov/DNPALe/?s cid=govD dnpao 085&source=govdelivery >

¹³⁶The 187th General Court of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts. *Bill H.1157 An Act to promote healthy people and a healthy economy*. Jeffrey Sánchez. 2011. Web Accessed <<u>http://www.malegislature.gov/Bills/187/House/</u>H01157>

¹³⁷Ibid.

¹³⁸Ibid.

¹³⁹Massachusetts Department of Health and Human Services. *Mass in Motion Communities*. 2012. Web Accessed March 2012. <<u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/consumer/wellness/healthy-living/community/mass-in-motion-</u> communities.html >

¹⁴⁰Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *Childhood Obesity Demonstration Project*. 2012. Web Accessed May 2012. < <u>http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/childhood/researchproject.html</u> >

¹⁴¹Massachusetts Department of Health and Human Services. *Mass in Motion*. 2009. Web Accessed March 2012. http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/mass-in-motion/ss-mass-in-motion-cover-page.pdf >

¹²⁴Massachusetts Budget and Policy Center. *Budget Monitor: The Governor's FY 2013 Budget*. 2012. Web Accessed March 2012. <<u>http://www.massbudget.org/report_window.php?loc=budget_monitor_governor_fy13.php</u>>

¹⁴³Massachusetts Department of Health and Human Services. *Mass in Motion: Stories from the Field. Opening the Doors of Springfield Gyms for Safe Areas to be Active*. 2011. Web Accessed March 2012.

http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/mass-in-motion/ss-mim-springfield-gyms.pdf

¹⁴⁴Massachusetts Department of Health and Human Services. *Mass in Motion: Stories from the Field. Extending Gloucester's Harborwalk.* 2011. Web Accessed March 2012. <<u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/mass-in-motion/ss-mim-gloucester-harborwalk.pdf</u> >

¹⁴⁵Massachusetts Department of Health and Human Services. *Mass in Motion: Stories from the Field. Pumping Up Park Safety in Fitchburg. 2011.* Web Accessed March 2012. <<u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/mass-in-</u> motion/ss-mim-fitchburg-playground.pdf >

¹⁴⁶Massachusetts Department of Public Health. *Working on Wellness: Case Study Family Service Association*. 2009. Web Accessed May 2012. <<u>http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/mass-in-motion/ss-worksite-fsa.pdf</u>>

¹⁴⁷Economos C, Hyatt R, Goldberg J, Must A, Naumova E, Collins J, Nelson M. A Community-Based Environmental Change Intervention Reduces BMI z-Score in Children: Shape Up Somerville First Year Results." Obesity, May 2007; 15 (5): 1325. Web March 2012. <<u>http://www.nutrition.tufts.edu/index.php?q=research/shapeup-somerville</u> >
 ¹⁴⁸Hubway. Boston: 2011. Web March 2012. <<u>http://www.thehubway.com/</u>>

¹⁴⁹Veugelers PJ and Fitzgerald AL. Effectiveness of School Programs in Preventing Childhood Obesity: A Multilevel Comparison. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(3): 432-435. 2005.

¹⁵⁰Committee on Accelerating Progress in Obesity Prevention, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. *Accelerating Progress in Obesity Prevention – Solving the Weight of the Nation*. The National Academies Press. Washington, D.C. 2012.

¹⁵¹Ibid

¹⁵²Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. School Health Guidelines to Promote Healthy Eating and Physical Activity. *MMWR*. 60(5) September 16, 2011.

¹⁵³Department of Health and Human Services. *Coordinated School Health Program*. <u>www.mass.gov/dph/</u> <u>coordinatedschoolhealth</u>

¹⁵⁴SPARK. Research-based PE programs and curriculum. <u>http://www.sparkpe.org/</u>

¹⁵⁵BOKS: Build Our Kids' Success. The Program. 2011. Web March 2012. <<u>http://www.bokskids.org/the-program/</u> ¹⁵⁶Human Kinetics. *FitnessGram*. 2012. Web March 2012. <<u>http://www.fitnessgram.net/programoverview/</u>/>

¹⁵⁷Katz, David. Activity Bursts in the Classroom. ABC For Fitness: 2008. Web March 2012. <<u>http://www.davidkatzmd.com/docs/ABCManual.pdf</u>>

¹⁵⁸Rately, John. SPARK: The Revolutionary New Science of Exercise and the Brain. <u>http://www.johnratey.com/</u> newsite/index.html

¹⁵⁹BOKS: Build Our Kids' Success. The Program. 2011. Web March 2012. <<u>http://www.bokskids.org/the-program/</u> > ¹⁶⁰Playworks. <u>http://www.playworks.org/about</u>

¹⁶¹Playworks. <u>www.playworks.org/make-recess-count/play-playworks-boston</u>

¹⁶²Childhood Obesity 180: Reverse the Trend. <u>www.childobesity180.org</u>

¹⁶³U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Community Transformation Grant Program*. 2012. Web Accessed May 2012. < <u>http://www.healthcare.gov/news/factsheets/2011/09/community09272011a.html</u> >

¹⁶⁴Let's Move: America's Move to Raise a Healthier Generation of Kids. Web March 2012. < <u>http://</u> www.letsmove.gov/about >

¹⁶⁵National Physical Activity Plan. 2010. Web March 2012. < <u>http://www.physicalactivityplan.org/</u> >

¹⁶⁶Trust for America's Health. *F as in Fat: How Obesity Threatens America's Future.* Washington D.C.: Trust for America's Health, 2011. Web. 3 March 2012.

¹⁶⁷Trust for America's Health. *Bending the Cost Curve*. Washington D.C.: Trust for America's Health: 2012. Web Accessed March 2012. <<u>http://healthyamericans.org/assets/files/TFAH%202012ObesityBrief06.pdf</u> >

¹⁶⁸Trust for America's Health. *F as in Fat: How Obesity Threatens America's Future*. Washington D.C.: Trust for America's Health, 2011. Web. 3 March 2012.

169Ibid

¹⁷⁰Ibid.

¹⁷¹Ibid.

¹⁷²Ibid

¹⁷³American Alliance for Health, Physical Education, Recreation and DANCE (AAHPERD). *Shape of the Nation Report*. AAHPERD: 2010. Web Accessed 2012.

<http://www.aahperd.org/naspe/publications/upload/Shape-of-the-tion-Revised2PDF.pdf >

¹⁷⁴Chang, Debbie, Gertel-Rosenberg, Allison, Drayton, Vonna, Schmidt, Shana, and Gwendoline Angalet. A Statewide Strategy to Battle Child Obesity in Delaware. *Health Affairs* 29,no3(2010): 481-490.

¹⁷⁵Ogden, CL, MD Carroll, BK Kit, KM Flegal. Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among US children and adolescents, 1999-2000. *JAMA*. 2012;307(5):483-490.

¹⁷⁶U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2008

¹⁷⁷Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. School Health Guidelines to Promote Healthy Eating and Physical Activity. *MMWR*. 60(5) September 16, 2011.